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Society of Friends reports no records known to exist aside from references to meeting in
minutes of Duck Creek Monthly Meeting (entry 147). Record of deed: Sussex Co. Recorder's office,
Deeds Record; vol. B2, p. 203. :

155. HOCKESSIN MEETING, 1730--, Hockessin.

Organized 1730 as a week day meeting under Newark Preparative Meeting (entry 148), services
being held in the home of William Cox. Set up as a preparative meeting in 1737 and the following
year the present meeting house was built. it was enlarged in 1745. Monthly meetings were held
alternatively with Centre in 1786, the meeting then being called Kennett Monthly Meeting (see
forthcoming Inventory of the Church Archives of Pennsylvania). But in 1808 the two were set up as
the Centre Monthly Meeting (entry 149} of which Hockessin is still a part. The Centre meetings were
gradually discontinued, all monthly meetings for many years past being in Hockessin, but still under
the old name. Meeting house is a plain stone structure covered with white plaster. Addition of frame
construction. Slate roof. Building stands at the top of a hill. Cemetery surrounded with a stone wall
lies across the road from the meeting house.

Old records and current minutes and register are incorporated with those of Centre (entry 149).
Financial, 1888--, 1 vol.; graveyard records (financial), 1854-1938, 1 vol.; in possession of John C.
Mitchell, Hockessin.

156. WILMINGTON MONTHLY MEETING, 1738--, 4™ and West Sts., Wilmington.

Organized 1738 as a meeting for worship. After meeting for a short period in the home of William
Shipley, a one story brick building on the east side of West St. a little above W. 4™ St. was completed.
This served until 1748 when a larger two story brick building was erected on the corner of W. 4" St.
Both the old and new meeting houses were used as a school from 1748. (See entry 157). Established
as a monthly meeting in 1750 under the Concord Quarterly Meeting. Later quarterly meetings were
held at Wiimington once each year. Present building, erected in 1817, stands in the graveyard
occupying the entire block from 4" to 5™ Sts. and from West to Washington Sts. Plain two story brick
building. Georgian style. During the summer month meetings are held with the Orthodox Friends in
their meeting house at 10™ and Harrison Sts. (entry 161). Present clerk of the meeting, Clifford K.
Sloan, Woodside Hills, R. F. D. 3. See: Louis M. Robinson, Society of Friends House (Wilmington,
privately printed, 1914); Friends in Wilmington (Wilmington, Charles L. Story Co., 1938, 165 pp.);
article in Wilmington Evening Journal, Dec. 8, 1920; photographs of three buildings occupied, in
possession of Mrs. Margery Stapler Ayers, 1706 Woodlawn Ave.

Minutes, 1750-1901, 14 vols. (1750-1891, men’s and women’s separate, 1891-1901, joint,
1780-1824, transcriptions); 1803-27 (transcript made in 1909) 3 vols.; Minutes of the Committee of
Advices in Sufferings, etc. appointed by Wilmington Monthly Meeting, 1756-88, 2 vols.; Minutes of the
Saociety for the Relief of the Poor, 1813-14, 1 vol.; extracts from Minutes of Wilmington Monthly
Meeting in the case of Benjamin Webb, 1831, 1bdl. of 5 sets of papers 41 pp.; Miscellaneous Papers,
1743-1839, 4 bdls. Containing approx. 280 papers;1750-1832, 16 envelopes containing approx. 130
papers; 1825-29, 1 bdl. Of 23 papers; in Friends’ Historical Library. Above records were loaned when
the meeting house safe was not considered sufficient protection but may be returned shortly as the
condition has been remedied. Minutes (women's original}, 1803-27, 1750-1827,; in possession of
Society of Friends (Orthodox), 302 Arch




St., Philadelphia. Minutes (original papers backed vols.) 1780-1824, 1 pkg.; 1901--, 4 vols.; Register
(births and burials), 1740--, 2 vols.; (marriage certificates), 1750--, 1 vol.; (certificates of removal),
1751--, 2 vols.; {(members) 1807-82, 3 vols.; (burial permits), 1824-1929, 3 vols.; Recorded Burials,
1740--, 1 card file; Gravestone Inscriptions. Loose papers; Grave locations in Burial Grounds, 1 vols.;
and 1 plans; Financial, 1750--, 3 vols.; Legacies, donations, and early School Funds Record, 1794, 1
vol.; Collection and Treasurer's Book, 1811, 1 vol.; Treasurer's Book of Investments, 1872, 1 vol.;
Treasurer's Voucher's Reports, etc., 1901-11, 1pkg.; Papers relating to building of the Meeting
House, 1816-16, 1 pkg.; Records of Alterations to Meeting House, 1920, 1 pkg.; Receipted Bills of
Philanthropic Committee, 1895-98, 1 pkg.; Members and Attendance at First Day School, 1868--, 3
vols.; Minutes of Teachers and Officers of First Day School, 1895-1914, 1 vol.; Minutes of Female
Benevolent Society, 1800-1912 (some items missing, 1829-60), 6 vols.; Treasurer’s Accounts of
Female Benevolent Society, 1 pkg.; Reports of articles distributed by the Female Benevolent Society,
1 pkg.; Papers pertaining to Friends’ School, 1 thin Box; plans of Primary Addition to Friends’ School,
1912, 1 roll; Treasurer’'s Book of School Funds, 1808--, 1 vol.; Records of Friends' Social Lyceum, 1
pkg.; Young Friends Association Minutes, 1894-1901, 1 vol.; Friends’ Service Committee records,
1925, 1 pkg.; Friends Best Interests Committee Minutes, 1912-24, 1 vol.; and loose papers in folder,;
Deeds and similar legal papers, 1 thin box; in meeting house sage in custody of custodian of records,
Mrs. Margery Stapler Ayers, 1706 Woodlawn Ave. See also records of Wilmington Meeting
(Orthodox, entry 161) which contain some items pertaining to this meeting prior to 1827. Records of
incorporation and deeds: new Castle Co. Recorder’s office. Deeds Record; vol. L1, p. 76; vol. Q1, p.
431; vol. B2, p. 186; vol. F2, pp 268, 326, and 329; vol. M2, p. 275; vol. X2, p. 172; vol. E4, pp.
153,and 160; vol. K5, p. 3 09; vol. V12, p.533; vol. G18. p. 59; vol. T20, p. 544; vol. X20, p. 117, vol.
Z20, p. 137, vol. B23, p. 272; vol. C23, p. 534, vol. R23, pp. 385, 532, and 535; vol. K25, p. 518; vol.
C25, pp. 109, 121, and 129.

157. FRIENDS SCHOOL. 1748--, Alapocas Drive, Wilmington.

Organized 1748 by some of the first members of the Society of Friends in Wilmington. The first
building used was the meeting house at 4" and West Sts., which vicinity at the time was known as
Quakers Hill. In 1846 a new buitding for femates was erected. The buildings were enlarged in 1883
and other additions were made until the school buildings occupied the entire length of the block, east
side of West St., 4" to 5" Sts.. In 1937 the school was moved to the present new building, a large
three story structure of Brandywine field stone, Delaware Colonial style of architecture, located on
Alapocas Drive, just north of Wilmington. 1t is a co-educational day school, grades, kindergarden to
senior high. The two Wilmington Meetings of Friends (entries 156 and 161) manage the school jointly.
Present principal is Wilmot R. Jones.

Minutes, 1884--, 4 vols.; Enrollment Record, 1888--, 4 vols.; academic Record, 1891--, 4 vols.; in
school safe. Other records of the school included with those of the Wilmington Monthly Meeting of
Friends, (entry 156).

158. MILFORD PREPARATIVE MEETING, 1760-1832 (defunct), Milford

Organized 1760 at which time the members asked permission of the Western Quarterly
Meeting to build a meeting house. Site of this meeting house or
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this work being completed on Feb. 23, 1774. In August, 1777, two companies
of British soldiers were quartered in the church.

When the Rev. Lawrence Girelius sailed away from Delaware in 1791, the
regime of the Swedish Lutheran Church in Delaware came to an end. The
congregation selected the Rev. Joseph Clarkson, a clergyman of the Protestant
Episcopal Church, to take charge. The regime of the Protestant Episcopal
Church in Wilmington was begun with his first service on Sept. 25, 1792.

FRIENDS

Wilmington Friend's Meeting, Hicksite. On Nov. 7, 1737, Friends living
in Wilmington, asked New Wark Preparative Meeting for permission to hold
meetings. On Dec. 4, 1737 the request was granted by the Monthly Meeting.
Wilmington Meeting was constituted on Dec. 13, 1737. The first meetings
were held in the one-story brick temporary home of Wm. Shipley, below 4th
St., and 50 ft. west of Shipley St. The sanction of the Chester Quarterly Meet-
ing was granted on Dec. 13, 1737. When the large home of Wm. Shipley, on
the s. w. cor. of 4th and Shipley Sts., was completed, the meetings were held
there. An elder and two overseers were selected in 1738. Wm. Shipley donated
a lot at the n. e. cor. of 4th and West Sts., where a small Meeting-House was
built. The date, 1738, was laid out in the front wall with glazed bricks. A sun-
dial was placed on the south wall and it remained in place for at least sixty
years, On June 8, 1739 Wilmington requested the privilege of a Preparative
Meeting, which was granted.

In 1748, a much larger Meeting-House was built on the site of the pres-
ent one. It was two stories in height and contained a gallery. The first Meet-
ing-House was then used exclusively for school purposes. On Mar. 14, 1750,
Wilmington joined with New Castle to form a2 Monthly Meeting.

Because the Friends refused to take any part in the Revolutionary War,
they were subjected to many indignities, including fines and imprisonment,
When they refused to pay the fines, their possessions would be restrained and
sold. On Aug. 27, 1777, the Meeting-House was forcibly taken over by the
Revolutionary soldiers as a barracks. While thus occupied, the Friends held
their meetings under a tree outside of the Meeting-House. In September, 1777,
the British having occupied Wilmington, they used the Meeting-House as a
hospital for wounded soldiers.

The present Meeting-House was started in 1816 and it was completed
and opened on Sept. 25, 1817. Elias Hicks visited the Meeting on Nov. 16,
1817, Oct. 23, 1819, Dec. 3, 1826 and Dec. 14, 1828. The Friends of Wil-
mington continued as one organization until the split in the Society in 1827.
At.this time the followers of Elias Hicks, known as "Hicksites”, secured pos-
session of the building at 4th and West Sts., and have continued to worship
there. The Orthodox branch then built a frame Meeting-House at the n. e. cor.
of 9th and Tatnall Sts.

In 1920, a new heating system was installed and a social-room was
equipped. This room was opened with a house-warming held on Dec, 7, 1920.
The Meeting-House property comprises the entire block, 4th to Sth, West to
Washington Sts, There is a large burying-ground. Former Governor Caleb
P. Bennett and John Dickinson, former President of Delaware are among
the prominent Wilmingtonians buried here. In 1933, the Historical Markers
Commission of Delaware placed a bronze plaque at 4th and Washington Sts.,
honoring John Dickinson. It recites some of his many activities including his




authorship of the famous "Letters from a Farmer in Pennsylvania” and the
fact that he was a founder of Dickinson College.
~ Beginning about 1916 the Hicksite and the Orthodox Meetings frequently

met together for business, for worship and to celebrate historical events which
emphasized their common origin. The two Monthly Meetings first met to-
gether to discuss mutual concerns on Sept. 16, 1932. In May, 1938, they joined
in celebrating the 200th Anniversary of the building of the first Friend's
Meeting-House in Wilmington. In November, 1938, the two Meetings joined
for worship. The Meetings were held at 4th and West Sts., from October to
June and at 10th and Harrison Sts., from June to October, The two Monthly
Meetings have been joined since January, 1942,

The two groups of Friends in Wilmington decided to merge, on May
18, 1945, under the name "The Wilmington Monthly Meeting of Friends.”
Their first services as a united group were held at Fourth and West Sts., on
May 20, 1945.

The Friend’s School at Alapocas was developed by the Friends from the
. little school at 4th and West Sts., founded in 1748.

Wilmington Orthodox Friend’s Meeting. In 1827, at the time of the sep-
aration in the Religious Society of Friends, the Hicksites kept possession of
the Meeting-House at 4th and West Sts. The Orthodox members built a frame
Meeting-House, in 1828, at the n. e. cor. of 9th and Tatnall Sts. This building
was two stories in heighth, faced 9th Street and there was a wide front porch.
The site was enclosed with a high brick wall. In 1832-33, Samuel Canby do-
nated additional land and built a one-room frame schoolhouse. The school had
been established in June, 1831 at 11th and Market Sts. A second room, of
brick, was added in 1874. The property at 9th and Tatnall Sts. was sold on
Oct. 30, 1913 and on Nov. 24, 1914 the site at the s. e. cor. of 10th and Harri-
son Sts. was purchased. The stone Meeting-House was built in 1915 and it
was opened for services in the autumn of that year. The Orthodox and Hicksite
Friends in Wilmington later joined for all services. Meetings were held at
10th and Harrison Sts., from June to October and at 4th and West Sts., from
October to June.

After deciding to merge, on May 18, 1945, the two groups of Friends
held their first united meeting on May 20, 1945, at Fourth and West Sts.

The following notation appears in the Journal of George Fox, founder of
the Society of Friends: "Justice Bennett of Derby was the first that called us
Quakers because I bid them tremble at the word of the Lord. This was in the
year 1650.”

PRESBYTERIAN

The First Presbyterian Church, The First-Central Presbyterian Church.
The Presbyterians in Wilmington, on Dec. 30, 1737, purchased from Timothy
Stidham an acre of land at the s. e. cor. 10th and Market Sts. In 1740, a small
brick meeting-house was built and a graveyard was laid out. This church had
a high pulpit with a large sounding-board and the seats had high straight
backs. The church was used as a hospital for wounded American prisoners
after the battle of Brandywine. It was incorporated on Dec. 23, 1789 and Dr.
John McKinly, the first President of Delaware, was elected one of the trustees.
In 1799, Dr. McKinly donated 100 pounds to provide a low stone wall around
the property. In 1772, a group of members had withdrawn from First Church
and built the Second or Christiana Church at Fifth and Walnut Sts. In 1838,
they sold their church to the German Baptists and returned to First Church.
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Friends Meeting House, majestically situated on Quaker Hill, was built between 1815 and
1817 and has changed little since it was built. What change has occurred has not altered
the integrity of the building.

It has a six-bay, two-story, brick facade laid in Flemish bond. There are double doors
in the second and fifth bays. These doors and the side doors each have porticos with
hipped roofs supported by a pair of tapered Ionic columns.

There are two interior end chimneys, probably originally used for stoves which heated
the large meeting room. The stoves are no longer in the building. A corner fireplace was
added when the meeting room was partitioned off. It is the only fireplace in the building.

The north and south three-bay gable ends are pedimented. The brickwork is seven-course
common bond. A double door with pillared portico and a small gallery door are in both
ends. There is also a small added window in the north end.

The windows on the first floor have twelve-over—-twelve light sashes while the second-
floor and attic windows are eight-over—twelve. The first- and second-floor windows have
four-panelled shutters. All of the cellar windows have marble lintels.

A one-story, nineteenth-century wing is to the west of the building. Its flat roof has
a center gable. A corbelled cornice is still visible under the roofline. 1In 1951 an
annex was added to this wing; however, the back wall of the nineteenth-century wing is
still visible in the annex and forms its east wall.

Originally, the meeting house was completely open on the inside; however, in this century
an office or social hall with a corner fireplace and vestibule on the first floor and
glassed-in classrooms on the second floor were partitioned off.

The main room is wainscotted, and all of the interior woodwork is stained a dark mahogany.
The original pews or benches remain and are arranged in much the same manner as they have
always been. The main room has four-step risers on the sides. Also remaining is the
large sounding board on the west wall.

A gallery is on the north, east, and south walls., The gallery stairs are in the north-
east and southeast corners of the main floor. Outside access to the gallery is also
attained through small doors on the north and south ends. The gallery once had four-
step risers; but when it was partitioned off for classrooms, the risers were removed.
The second-floor windows, however, are quite high because of the original configquration
of the gallery.

The attic stairway is in the northwest corner of the gallery. The original beams are
visible in the attic, although they were reinforced in this century for the addition

of the heavy tile roof. Also visible in the attic is the massive mechanism for the top
portion of the moveable partition once used to segregate the sexes at meetings. The
moveable wooden partition had counter-balanced sections. The top section is still in
place; however, the bottom section, which rose from the basement, was removed.
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The meeting house sits on the southeast corner of the lot bounded by Fourth, Fifth,
Washington, and West streets. The lot is surrounded by an iron fence on three sides
and a brick wall on the east side. The original carriage gates are still on the north
and south fences. Within the fence is the burial ground. Massive trees add to the
overall beauty of the meeting house and its surrounding lot.
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Friends Meeting House, where most of the prominent Quaker families who first settled

in Wilmington worshipped, is one of the most important religious buildings in Wilmington.
It remains an important center for Wilmington Quakers. The Friends Meeting House is

also outstanding because of its architecture. It is an excellent example of the type of

meeting house constructed by Delaware Quakers in the late eighteenth and early nineteenth
centuries.

Although Wilmington was originally founded by the Swedes, it was Pennsylvania Quaker
families such as the Shipleys who settled it. Originally it was called Willingtown,
and by 1739 it had a population of over 600. Such Quaker families as the Canbys and
the Tatnalls had gristmills along the Brandywine River and remained important millers
for over a century. 1Indeed the economic base for the town was provided by the same
Quaker merchants who settled around Quaker Hill where they built their first meeting
house in 1738, two vears after Wilmington was incorporated.

The earliest meeting house was located on Fourth Street across from the present one.
In 1748 a larger meeting house was needed, and a building which stood on the same lot
as the present one was built, Its capacity was 500 worshippers; however, the meeting
grew so large that by 1815 a new meeting house was needed.

Between October 26, 1815, and September 25, 1817, the third and present meeting house
was planned and built. The majority of the members of the meeting donated funds for

the building; and upon completion, no money was owed. The original patrons of the build-
ing were some of the most important Wilmington Quakers, including merchants, Samuel
Canby, Thomas Lea, Edward Tatnall, and James Canby; banker, Joseph Bailey; and members
of the Mendenhall, Price, Seal, Hilles, Alrichs, and Ferris families.

This meeting house, completed in 1817, has changed little to the present day. Its large
size reflects its considerable membership. Its detail is simple but well executed.
Outstanding among its features are the porticoed doorways, Flemish bond brickwork,
interjior panelling, and massive wooden moveable partition. It represents the Quaker
influence in Wilmington architecture so prevalent through the eighteenth and nineteenth
centuries.

In 1817 when the present meeting house was completed, Wilmington Monthly Meeting of
Friends was called Wilmington Preparative Meeting and included the Stanton Preparative
Meeting. Today the meeting includes the Appoquinimink Preparative Meeting at Odessa.
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Between the time it was constructed and the Civil War, the meeting was involved in
the Hicksite Schism, a division between orthodox Quakers and followers of Elias
Hicks. A frequent speaker at the meeting, Hicks caused a split in the once~united
group. In 1828 the orthodox members left to form their own meeting and to build
thelr own meeting house at Ninth and Tatnall streets. From 1828 until 1942 the two
meetings were separate, but today they are part of the Wilmington Monthly Meeting
of Friends and meet in the building being nominated.

Members of the meeting were active in the Underground Railroad. 1In 1787, Delaware
passed a law prohibiting the importation and exportation of slaves. The following
year, Delaware Quakers formed the Delaware Society for Promoting the Abolution of
Slavery. This organization was active throughout the first half of the nineteenth
century.

Thomas Garrett, one of the most famous abolitionists, lived in Wilmington and wor-
shipped at Friends Meeting House. Garrett was responsible for saving nearly 2900
Blacks by means of the Underground Railroad. He is buried in the burial ground
adjacent to the building.

The Wilmington Monthly Meeting of Friends has always been active in the education of
both boys and girls. As early as 1748, the original 1738 meeting house was converted
to a school. As enlarged, it remained until the 1930's when the Friends School

moved to the suburbs. William and Emma Bancroft, members of the meeting, contributed
greatly to education by their donations to Antioch, Swarthmore, George School, and
the parks of Wilmington.

The burial ground contains the remains of several of the most prominent citizens of
Wilmington and of Delaware, including John Dickinson, "The Penman of the Revolution,"
and author of the Letters From é_Pennsylvania Farmer; Thomas Garrett, the famous
abolitionist; and Caleb P. Bennett, the former Governor of Delaware from 1833 to 1836.







NAME : Friends Meeting House

LOCATION: Wilmington, Delaware Nau Cer#l (o
PHOTOGRAPHER: Sue Fox
DATE : April 1976

LOCATION OF NEGATIVE: Hall of Records, Dover, Ddawarxe

DESCRIFTION: Facade of Friends Meeting House taken
from east

PHOTO NUMBER: AUG 2
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NAME : Friends Meeting House

LOCATION: Wilmington, Delaware Neu- Castle Co
PHOTOGRAPHER: Ned Heite )
DATE : July 1976
LOCATION OF NEGATIVE: Hall of Records, -Dover
DESCRIPTION: Interior taken from northwest
PHOTO NUMBER: 3 ’
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NAME: Friends Meeting House

LOCATION: Wilmington, Delaware Nege (as7/e Co
PHOTOGRAPHER: Ned Heite '
DATE : July 1976
IOCATION OF NMEGATIVE: Hall of Records, Dover
DESCRIPTION: Rear of meeting house showing

annex
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